The Companies Acts 1985 and 1989

Company limited by guarantee

# Articles of Association of

# The Vintage Glider Club Limited (Company Number: 6514427)

- 1 Interpretation
  - 1 1 In these Articles
    - 1 1 1 "Act" means the Companies Act 1985 or the Companies Act 2006, whichever shall apply,
    - 1 1 2 "AGM" an Annual General Meeting,
    - 1 1 3 "Annual Subscription" means the annual subscription fee payable by a Member pursuant to Articles 2 3 3 and 4,
    - 1 1 4 "Articles" means these Articles of Association from time to lime in force,
    - 1 1 5 "Assets" means the assets of the Club from time to time
    - "Auditor" includes any person or firm who has been appointed as an auditor pursuant to section 385 of the Act or, 1f the Club shall have passed an elective resolution pursuant to section 386 of the Act, any person or firm which has been retained to undertake a review of the Club's accounts.
    - "Board" means the board of directors of the Club, acting collectively, and includes a sole director acting alone under these Articles and shall from time to time be referred to as the "Committee".
    - 1 1 8 "Chairman" means the persons appointed to such office from time by the Board or otherwise as provided by these Articles,
    - 1 1 9 "Companies Act 2006" means the Companies Act 2006,
    - 1 1 10 "Club" means the Company to be regulated by these Articles,
    - 1 1 11 "clear days" in relation to the period of a notice means a period excluding
      - (a) The day when the notice is given or deemed to be given, and
      - (b) The day for which the notice is given or on which it is to take effect,
    - 1 1 12 "Council" means the International Council referred to in article 41,
    - 1 1 13 "Council Member" a member of the Council pursuant to clause 41,
      - "Director" means a Member of the Board acting individually,



- 1 1 15 "EGM" means an Extraordinary General Meeting, being any General meeting of the Club other than an AGM,
- 1 1 16 "incorporation" means the date of incorporation of the Club,
- 1 1 1 17 "Members" means the persons who are members of the Club from time to time and whose membership is evidenced by his inclusion in the register of members,
- 1 1 18 "Memorandum" means the memorandum of Association of the Club as it may be altered from time to time.
- 1 1 19 "Objects" means the objects of the Club as set out in the Memorandum from time to time,
- 1 1 20 "Officer" shall include the Treasurer, the Chairman, Secretary and any Vice Chairman for the time being of the Club as the context may apply,
- 1 1 21 "Pre-Incorporation Club" means the club formerly known as the Vintage Glider Club,
- 1 1 22 "President" means the President for the time being of the Club,
- 1 1 23 "Secretary" means the Secretary of the Club or any other person appointed to perform the duties of the Secretary of the Club,
- 1 1 24 "Subscriber" means, at any particular time, the subscriber to the Memorandum,
- 1 1 25 "Treasurer" means the person appointed to such office from time to time by the Board or otherwise as provided by these Articles,
- 1 1 26 "United Kingdom" means Great Britain and Northern Ireland,
- 1 1 27 "Vice-Chairman" means the person appointed to such office time by the Board or otherwise as provided by these Articles,
- 1 1 28 "Vice Presidents" means the Vice Presidents for the lime being of the Club

#### 12 In these Articles

- 1 2 1 a reference to any present or future Act of Parliament includes any statutory modification or re-enactment of it for the time being in force and any subordinate legislation for the time being in force made under it,
- 1 2 2 unless the context requires, words importing one gender shall include all genders, and words in the singular include the plural and vice versa,
- 1 2 3 a reference to a "person" includes any natural person, body corporate, partnership, trust, unincorporated association and public authority and any

- other entity or association of any nature (in each case, whether or not having separate legal capacity),
- unless the context otherwise requires, expressions referring to writing include documents sent by electronic means which have been reproduced in paper copy or similar form,
- 1 2 5 a reference to an article is a reference to a clause or sub-clause of these Articles,
- 1 2 6 a reference to a schedule is a reference to the schedule to these Articles, and a reference in the schedule to a paragraph is a reference to a paragraph of the schedule,
- 1 2 7 unless the context otherwise requires words or expressions contained in these Articles have the same meaning as in the Act but excluding any statutory modification not in force when this constitution becomes binding on the Club,
- 128 "In writing" or "written" includes email
- 1 3 The headings of these Articles do not affect the interpretation of them

## 2 Membership

- 2 1 The Club must keep a register of members as required by the Act
- The subscribers to the memorandum must be entered in the register of members on the incorporation of the Club Such other persons as are admitted to membership in accordance with these Articles are also to be Members on being entered 1n the register of Members Membership is not transferable
- 2 3 Membership is open to other individuals or organisations who
  - 2 3 1 apply to the Club in the form required by the Board from time to time, and
  - 2 3 2 are approved by the Board, and
  - 2 3 3 pay the Annual Subscription
- The Board may only refuse an application for membership if, acting reasonably and properly, they consider it to be in the best interests of the Club to refuse the application
- The Board must inform the applicant in writing of the reasons for the refusal within twenty-one days of the decision
- 2.6 The Board must consider any written representations that the applicant may make about the decision The Board's decision following any written representations must be notified to the applicant in writing and shall be final

## 3 Classes of Membership

- The Board may establish classes of membership with different rights and obligations (including, but without limitation on the right to attach an Annual Subscription) and shall record the rights and obligations in the register of members
- 3 2 The Board may not directly or indirectly alter the rights or obligations attached to a class of membership except in accordance with clause 33
- 3 3 The rights attached to a class of membership may only be varied if
  - 3 3 1 three-quarters of the Members of that class consent in writing to the variation, or
  - a special resolution is passed at a separate general meeting of the Members of that class agreeing to the variation
- The provisions in these Articles about general meetings shall apply to any meeting relating to the variation of the rights of any class of members

## 4 Subscription Fee

- 4 1 Each Member shall pay the Annual Subscription (or a pro rata proportion of it)
  - 4 1 1 upon their application to become a Member of the Club, and
  - 4 1 2 on the 1<sup>st</sup> January 2007 every year that they wish to renew their membership
- The Annual Subscription is refundable if the applicant's initial membership application is rejected pursuant to article 24
- The Annual Subscription is not refundable if a Member's membership is terminated pursuant to Article 5
- The rates payable for the Annual Subscription, of any type of membership, shall be determined by the Board at a general meeting
- The Annual Subscription shall form part of the Assets of the Club, and the Board may utilise the Annual Subscription in accordance with their powers under the Articles

#### 5 Cessation of Membership

- 5 1 A Member automatically ceases to be a Member if
  - 5 1 1 he dies or, if it is an organisation, ceases to exist,
  - 5 12 the Member resigns by written notice to the Club (unless, after the resignation, there would be less than two Members),

- any sum due from the Member to the Club is not paid in full within six months of it falling due, despite the Club having served notice of the overdue payment,
- A Member may be removed from membership by a resolution of the Board deeming that it is in the best interests of the Club that the membership is terminated A resolution to remove a Member from membership may only be passed if
  - the Member has been given at least twenty-one days' notice in writing of the meeting of the Board at which the resolution will be proposed and the reasons why it is to be proposed,
  - the Member or, at the option of the Member, the Member's representative (who need not be a Member) has been allowed to make representations to the meeting

## 6 General meetings

- If and for so long only as the Club is required to hold annual general meetings, all general meetings, other than any annual general meetings, are called extraordinary general meetings if and for so long as the Club is not required to hold annual general meetings, references below to extraordinary general meetings are to general meetings
- The Club must hold its first annual general meeting within eighteen months after the date of its incorporation
- An annual general meeting must be held in each subsequent year and not more than fifteen months may elapse between successive annual general meetings
- 6 4 The Board may call extraordinary general meetings at any time
- The Board must convene an extraordinary general meeting on the requisition of Members pursuant to (and in accordance with) the provisions of the Act

#### 7 Notice of general meetings

- 7 1 The minimum periods of notice required to hold a general meeting of the Club are
  - 7 1 1 sixty clear days for an annual general meeting and an extraordinary general meeting called for the passing of a special resolution,
  - 7 12 sixty clear days for all other extraordinary general meetings
- 7 2 A general meeting may be called by shorter notice if it is so agreed
  - 7 2 1 In the case of an annual general meeting, by all the Members entitled to attend and vote, and
  - 7 2 2 In the case of an extraordinary general meeting, by not less than 10 percent of Members having a right to attend and vote at the meeting

- 7 3 The notice of a general meeting must specify the date, time and place of the meeting and the general nature of the business to be transacted If the meeting is to be an annual general meeting, the notice must say so
- 7 4 The notice must be given to all the Members and to the Board and auditors (if any)
- 7 5 The proceedings at a general meeting are not invalidated because a person who was entitled to receive notice of the meeting did not receive it because of an accidental omission by the Club

## **8** Notices of Motion

- A notice of motion for the Annual General Meeting must be submitted in writing, duly signed by the proposer and seconder (who must be individual Members), and sent to the Secretary
- 8 2 Notices of motion concerning amendments to the Articles must be received by the Secretary not less than sixty days before the Meeting Other Notices of Motion must be received not less than sixty days before the Meeting
- Any Notice of Motion shall be read at the meeting, by the proposer in person or a nominated person at the discretion of the Board

## 9 Proceedings at general meetings.

- 9 1 No business may be transacted at any general meeting unless it is included in the notice convening the meeting and a quorum is present
- 9 2 No business may be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present
- 9 3 A quorum is the lesser of
  - 9 3 1 50 Members entitled to vote upon the business to be conducted at the meeting, or
  - 9 3 2 one tenth of the total membership at the time
- 9 4 The authorised representative of any Member that is not a natural person shall be counted in the quorum

#### 10 Procedure if quorum not present

- 10 1 This article 10 applies If
  - 10 1 1 a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting, or
  - 10 1 2 during a general meeting a quorum ceases to be present
- In those circumstances, the meeting is to be adjourned to such time and place as the Board determines

10.3 If at the reconvened meeting a quorum is not present within fifteen minutes from the time appointed for the meeting, the Members present at that time shall constitute the quorum for that meeting

## 11 Chair of general meetings

- 11 1 General meetings shall be chaired by the Chairman who has been appointed to chair meetings of the Board
- 11 2 If there is no such person or he or she is not present within fifteen minutes of the time appointed for the meeting, the Vice Chairman (if any) is to chair the meeting If he is not present or is unwilling to act, the President or a Vice President as nominated by the Board shall chair the meeting
- 11.3 If there is only one Vice President present and willing to Fact, he shall chair the meeting
- 11 4 If no President or Vice President is present or willing to chair the meeting within 15 minutes after the time appointed for holding it, the Members present and entitled to vote must choose a Board Member or a Member to chair the meeting

## 12 Attendance at general meetings

12.1 The person who is chairing a general meeting may allow anyone to attend and speak where he considers that this will help the business of the meeting

## 13 Adjournment at general meetings

The Members present at a meeting may resolve by ordinary resolution that the meeting shall be adjourned

- 13 1 The person who is chairing the meeting must decide the date, time and place at which the meeting is to be reconvened unless those details are specified in the resolution
- 13 2 No business shall be conducted at a reconvened meeting unless it could properly have been conducted at the meeting had the adjournment not taken place
- 133 If a meeting is adjourned by a resolution of the Members for more than seven days, at least seven clear days' notice shall be given of the reconvened meeting stating the date, time and place of the meeting

## 14 Voting at general meetings

- Any vote at a meeting shall be decided by a show of hands unless before, or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands, a poll is demanded
- 14 2 A poll may be demanded by
  - 14 2 1 the person chairing the meeting, or
  - 14 2 2 at least two Members having the right to vote at the meeting, or

- 14 2 3 a Member or Members representing not less than one-tenth of the total voting rights of all the Members having the right to vote at the meeting
- 14.3 A demand by a person as proxy for a Member is the same as a demand by a Member

#### 15 Declaration of chair is final

- 15 1 The declaration by the person who is chairing the meeting of the result of a vote shall be conclusive unless a poll is demanded
- The result of the vote must be recorded in the minutes of the Club but the number or proportion of votes cast need not be recorded

#### 16 Withdrawal of demand for poll

- A demand for a poll may be withdrawn, before the poll is taken, but only with the consent of the person who is chairing the meeting
- 16.2 If the demand for a poll is withdrawn the demand will not invalidate the result of a show of hands declared before the demand was made

## 17 Taking of a poll

- 17 1 A poll must be taken as the person who is chairing the meeting directs, who may appoint scrutineers (who need not be Members) and who may fix a time and place for declaring the results of the poll
- 17.2 The result of the poll is to be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll is demanded

## 18 Time and place of poll

- A poll demanded on the election of a person to chair a meeting or on a question of adjournment must be taken immediately
- A poll demanded on any other question must be taken either immediately or at such time and place as the person who is chairing the meeting directs
- 18 3 The poll must be taken within thirty (30) days after it has been demanded
- 18 4 If the poll is not taken immediately at least seven (7) clear days' notice shall be given specifying the time and place at which the poll is to be taken
- 18 5 If a poll is demanded the meeting may continue to deal with any other business that may be conducted at the meeting

## 19 Resolution in writing without meeting

19 1 A resolution in writing signed by all the Members (or in the case of a Member that is an organisation, by its authorised representative) entitled to receive notice of the

- meeting and to vote on the resolution is as valid and effective as if it had been passed at a meeting duly convened and held
- The resolution in writing may comprise several documents containing the text of the resolution in like form, each signed by one or more directors. Any such document sent by electronic mail will be deemed to be signed by the person who sent it

#### 20 Votes of Members

- 20 1 Subject to Articles 20 2, 20 3, 20 4 and 20 5
  - 20 1 1 on a show of hands, every Member who (being an individual) is present in person or (being a corporation) is present by a duly authorised representative, not being himself a Member entitled to vote, has one vote, and
  - 20 12 on a poll every Member has one vote
- No Member Is entitled to vote at any general meeting or at any adjourned meeting if he or she owes money to the Club which is overdue for payment
- 20 3 Every issue proposed at any general meeting is decided if carried by a simple majority of votes cast, except where the Act or any other provisions of these Articles prescribe a different majority
- 20.4 If there is an equality of votes, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the person who is chairing the meeting shall have a casting vote in addition to any other vote he may have
- Any objection to the qualification of any voter must be raised at the meeting at which the vote is tendered and the decision of the person who 1s chairing the meeting shall be final

## 21 Representative of corporation at general meeting

- 21.1 In the case of a corporation, a director or the secretary of it will be deemed to be a duly authorised representative for the purpose of paragraph 20.1
- 21 2 A corporation may nominate any person to act as its representative at any meeting of the club in accordance with Article 21 3
- 21 3 The appointment of a nominee to act as the representative of a corporation and any authority under which it is executed, or a copy of such authority certified by a solicitor or in some other way approved by the Board, must be received
  - at the registered office for the time being of the Club or at such other address within the United Kingdom as is specified in the notice convening the meeting, or in any form of appointment of proxy sent out by the Club in relation to the meeting, or in any invitation contained in an electronic

- communication to appoint a proxy issued by the Club in relation to the meeting,
- 21 3 2 not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes to vote, or in the case of a poll, not less than 24 hours before the time appointed for the taking of the poll
- An appointed nominee may act as the representative of the corporation at meetings of the Club until written notice (by two officers of the corporation) to the contrary is received by the Club

## 22 Voting by proxy

- Any Member may appoint another person (whether a Member or not) as his proxy to attend and speak at a general meeting and to vote on a poll but not on a show of hands
- 22.2 The receipt of an appointment of a proxy does not preclude the Member from attending and voting in person at the meeting in respect of which the proxy is appointed or at any adjournment of it
- Nothing in this paragraph 22 permits the appointment of a proxy by Member who, at any material time, is not entitled to exercise a vote as a Member
- 22.4 Proxy votes may only be cast in writing to the Chairman on specific issues previously notified The Chairman's interpretation of proxy voting instructions shall be final and shall not be challenged

## 23 Form and signature of proxy

- The appointment of a proxy is to be in any form which is usual or which the Board may approve
- 23.2 The appointment of a proxy is to be signed by the Member making the appointment or by another person under a power of attorney granted by the Member. Any appointment sent by electronic email will be deemed to be signed by the person who sent it
- 23.3 The appointment of a proxy is deemed to confer authority to demand, or join in demanding, a poll

## 24 Receipt of proxy

- 24.1 The appointment of a proxy and any authority under which it is executed, or a copy of such authority certified by a solicitor or in some other way approved by the Board, must be received
  - 24 1 1 at the registered office for the time being of the Club or at such other address within the United Kingdom as is specified in the notice convening

the meeting, or in any form of appointment of proxy sent out by the Club in relation to the meeting, or in any invitation contained in an electronic communication to appoint a proxy issued by the Club in relation to the meeting,

- 24 1 2 not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes to vote, or in the case of a poll, not less than 24 hours before the time appointed for the taking of the poll
- 24.2 An appointment of a proxy which is not received in accordance with paragraph 24.1 is invalid

#### 25 Qualification to be a director

- No one may be appointed a director if he would be disqualified from acting under the provisions of article 30
- 25 2 If so required by law (but not otherwise), the Club must have at least one director who is a natural person of the requisite age
- 25 3 In the two years immediately following incorporation, a Member may only be appointed a director of the Club if he has at least two years consecutive continued and fully paid up membership of the Pre-Incorporation Club and the Club
- From the date two years immediately after incorporation, a Member may only be appointed a director of the Club if he has been a fully paid up Member for at least two years
- 25.5 The Board may waive the provisions of articles 25.3 and 25.4 by special resolution

## 26 Number of Directors

- The minimum number of directors is five and the maximum number is nine, or such other maximum as the Board shall from time to time approve The Board is to include the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and the Treasurer
- 26.2 Subject to the provisions of article 25, the Club may by ordinary resolution appoint a person who is willing to act to be a director either to fill a vacancy or as an additional director and may also determine the rotation in which any additional directors are to retire

## 27 Powers of directors

- The Board has control over all the affairs and property of the Club and exercises all the powers of the Club, unless the Board is subject to any restrictions imposed by the Acts, the memorandum, these Articles or any special resolution
- 27 2 No alteration of the memorandum or these Articles or any special resolution will have retrospective effect to invalidate any prior act of the Board

- 27 3 The powers given to the Board by this article 27 2 are not limited by any special powers given to the Board by these Articles
- Any meeting of the Board at which a quorum is present at the time the relevant decision is made may exercise all the powers exercisable by the Board

## 28 Delegation of directors' powers

- 28.1 The Board may delegate any of its powers to any committee consisting of one or more directors
- Any such delegation may be made subject to any conditions which the Board may impose, and either concurrently with or to the exclusion of their own powers, and may be revoked or altered
- Subject to any such conditions, the proceedings of a committee with two or more Members are to be governed by the Articles regulating the proceedings of the Board, so far as they are capable of applying
- 28 4 No delegation can be made in respect of any director's voting rights on the Board
- The Chairman shall be ex-officio a Member of every committee and shall receive prior notice of all sub committee meetings

## 29 Appointments and retirement of directors

- 29 1 At every AGM subsequent to the adoption of these Articles
  - 29 1 1 the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and the Treasurer shall retire from office and shall be eligible for reappointment if so willing, and
  - 29 1 2 one-third of the directors then in office (excluding the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Treasurer) shall retire by rotation if the number of such directors is not divisible by three, then the number nearest to one-third shall retire
- 29 2 The maximum term that any director may serve is 3 years, after which time he must retire
- Any director who retires shall be eligible for reappointment if willing to continue to serve the Chairman may only serve six consecutive years
- The directors to retire by rotation shall be those who have been longest in office since their last appointment or re-appointment, but as between Board Members who were last appointed or re-appointed on the same day, those to retire shall, unless they otherwise agree among themselves be determined by lot
- 29 5 No person shall be appointed or re-appointed a director at any general meeting unless he is a Member eligible for appointment pursuant to article 25 and
  - 29 5 1 he is recommended by the directors, or

- 29 5 2 not less than 60 clear days before the date appointed for the meeting, a nomination form in such form as the Board may from time to time prescribe, shall have been received by the Secretary, completed and signed by two Members qualified to vote at the meeting (both of whom must have been Club Members for at least two consecutive years prior to signing the nomination form), and stating the particulars which would, if he were so appointed, be required to be included in the Club's register of directors together with notice executed by that nominated Member of his willingness to be appointed
- 29 6 No later than twenty-one clear days prior to a general meeting of the Club at which the appointment or re-appointment of any director is to be considered, the names of all persons to be considered under article 29 shall be published on the Club's website with such information as may reasonably be required to give Members an understanding of the suitability of those persons for such appointment or reappointment

## 30 Disqualification and removal of directors

- 30 1 As well as in accordance with the applicable provisions of article 29, a director automatically ceases to hold office if
  - 30 1 1 he resigns his directorship by giving notice to the Club,
  - 30 1 2 he ceases to be a Member.
  - 30 1 3 he ceases to be a director by virtue of any provision in the Act or is prohibited by lawfrom being a director,
  - 30 1 4 he dies or becomes bankrupt,
  - 30 1 5 he becomes incapable by reason of mental disorder illness or injury of managing and administering his own affairs,
  - 30 1 6 he is removed by a simple majority of the Members in General Meeting, following the procedure laid down in Section 303 of the Act,
  - 30 1 7 75% of the Board entitled to vote on such a resolution resolve that he shall resign if following such resolution he fails to resign, his Membership of the Board shall be suspended until the next General Meeting of the Club,
  - 30 1 8 he is absent for three consecutive meetings of the Board, and the Board resolve that he should not continue in office, and in any event automatically if he is absent for five consecutive meetings of the Board
- 30 2 A director who ceases to be director as a consequence of Article 30-shall not, during the period prior to a subsequent General Meeting at which he submits himself for reappointment as a director, subsequently be re-appointed/co-opted as a director or attend any meeting

## 31 Appointment of additional directors of the Board (Co-Option)

31 1 Subject to the maximum number stated in these Articles and the provisions of article 25, the Board may, by resolution, appoint a Member who is willing to act as a director, either to fill a vacancy or as an additional director A director appointed under this Article 31 1 will hold office only until the next following AGM, when he shall be eligible to seek re-election and will not be taken into account in determining the directors who are to retire by rotation at that meeting If such Board Member is not re-appointed at that AGM, he will automatically vacate his office at the end of that meeting

## 32 Proceedings of directors

- 32.1 The Board may regulate its proceedings as it thinks fit, subject to the provisions of these Articles
- 32 2 Any director may call a meeting of the Board by giving at least 14 days notice
- A meeting may be called by the Chairman at any time with reasonable notice Reasonable notice will be a minimum of 2 clear days
- A meeting may be called at any time by a requisition of at least one third of the directors, all of whom must have attended the most recent meeting of the Board
- 32.5 The Secretary must call a meeting of the Board if requested to do so by a Director
- 32 6 Questions arising at a meeting of the Board are decided by a majority of votes
- 32 7 Subject to Articles 32 8, 32 9 and 33 each director has one vote on each issue at a meeting of the Board
- 32 8 In the case of an equality of votes, the director who chairs the meeting has a second or casting vote
- 32 9 If a question arises at a meeting of the Board or of a committee of directors as to the right of a director to vote, the question may, before the conclusion of the meeting, be referred to the person who is chairing the meeting, and his ruling in relation to any director other than himself will be final and conclusive

## 33 Directors' interests

33 1 Subject to such disclosure as is required by section 317 of the Act, a director may vote at a meeting of the Board, or of a committee of directors, or on any resolution concerning a matter in which he has, directly or indirectly, an interest or duty which is material and which conflicts or may conflict with the interests of the Club He will also be counted in the quorum at any meeting at which the matter is considered

## 34 Quorum at directors' meetings

No decision may be made by a meeting of directors unless a quorum is present at the time the decision is purported to be made

- The quorum is five directors entitled to vote, one of whom must be the Chairman, a Vice-Chairman or the Chairman's delegated representative
- 34 3 If a quorum is not present within fifteen minutes from the time appointed for the meeting or at any point during the meeting, the meeting is to be adjourned to such time and place as the Chairman (or in his absence those present) determines

#### 35 Alternate directors

- Any director (other than an alternate director) may appoint any other director, or any other person approved by resolution of the directors and willing to act, to be an alternate director and may remove from office an alternate director appointed by him
- An alternate director shall be entitled to receive notice of all meetings of directors and of all meetings of committees of directors of which his appointer is a member, to attend and vote at any such meeting at which the director appointing him is not personally present, and generally to perform all the functions of his appointer as a director in his absence but shall not be entitled to receive any remuneration from the Club for his services as an alternate director But it shall not be necessary to give notice of such a meeting to an alternate director who is absent from the United Kingdom
- 35.3 The receipt of an appointment of an alternate director does not preclude the appointing director from attending and voting in person at the meeting in respect of which the alternate director is appointed or at any adjournment of it But if the appointing director is in attendance, the alternate director may not vote
- Any appointment or removal of an alternate director shall be by notice to the Club signed by the director making or revoking the appointment or in any other manner approved by the directors. Any appointment sent by electronic email will be deemed to be signed by the person who sent it
- 35 5 Alternate director votes may only be cast in writing to the Chairman on specific issues previously notified The Chairman's interpretation of alternate director voting instructions shall be final and shall not be challenged
- 35 6 Save as otherwise provided in these articles, an alternate director shall be deemed for all purposes to be a director and shall alone be responsible for his own acts and defaults and he shall not be deemed to be the agent of the director appointing him

### 36 Receipt of appointment of an alternate director

- The appointment of an alternate director and any authority under which it is executed, or a copy of such authority certified by a solicitor or in some other way approved by the Board, must be received
  - 36 1 1 at the registered office for the time being of the Club or at such other address within the United Kingdom as is specified in the notice convening the meeting, or in any form of appointment of proxy sent out by the Club in

- relation to the meeting, or in any invitation contained in an electronic communication to appoint a proxy issued by the Club in relation to the meeting,
- 36 1 2 not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes to vote, or in the case of a poll, not less than 24 hours before the time appointed for the taking of the poll
- An appointment of an alternate director which is not received in accordance with paragraph 36 1 is invalid

## 37 Chair of directors' meetings

- 37 1 The Board may appoint a director to chair its meetings, and may at any time revoke such appointment
- 37 2 The Board may appoint a director to deputise for the person appointed under article 37 1, in his absence, and may at any time revoke such an appointment
- 37 3 If no one has been appointed to chair meetings of the Board, or if the person(s) appointed under Articles 37 1 and 37 2 is unwilling to preside or is not present within ten minutes after the time appointed for the meeting, the directors present may appoint one of their number to chair that meeting
- 37 4 The person appointed to chair the meetings of the Board has no functions or powers except those conferred by these Articles or delegated to him by the Board

## 38 Manner of participation in directors' meetings

- 38 1 Directors participating in a meeting of the Board or of a committee of directors
  - 38 1 1 Must participate at the same time, but may be in different places, and
  - 38 1 2 May communicate with each other by any means

## 39 Election and Appointment of Officers of the Board of directors

39 1 The Board at its meeting after the Annual General Meeting shall elect from amongst its number the Chairman, Vice-Chairman, the Secretary and Treasurer of the Club and such other officers of the Club as it deems appropriate The Board may revise these elections and appointments at any time

## 40 Other Attendees at directors' meetings

The Board may invite or require other Members of the Club, or invite non-Members, to attend and participate in meetings Such other persons attending shall have no voting rights

#### 41 The International Council

- 41.1 The Board shall be advised by an International Council (the "Council") which shall consist of the following Members ("Council Members")
  - 41 1 1 the President,
  - 41 12 the Vice-Presidents,
  - 41 1 3 the Chairman, and
  - 41 1 4 by invitation of the Council, representatives of Members resident in other countries (the "National Representative")
- 41 2 A National Representative of a country with less than 10 resident Members may sit at the meeting of the Council, but will have no voting rights
- The National Representative of any country with more than 10 resident Members may sit and vote at any meetings of the Council
- 41.4 The Council shall meet at least once annually at times and places as determined by the Council, but where possible this meeting is to be at the international rally
- The quorum of the Council shall be a minimum of five Council Members, one of whom must be the Chairman or a Vice Chairman or the Chairman's delegated representative
- 41 6 Subject to article 41 2 and 41 8, each Council Member has one vote on each issue at a meeting of the Council
- 41 7 Questions arising at a meeting of the Council are decided by a majority of votes
- In the case of an equality of votes at a meeting of the Council, the Chairman of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote
- 41 9 Any Member of the Club is entitled to attend, but not vote at, a meeting of the Council

#### 42 President and Vice Presidents

- The President is appointed as the internationally recognized representative of the Club The President will be appointed by ordinary resolution at a General Meeting of the Club
- The President must be a director of the Club and, subject to the conditions contained in articles 25, 29 and 30, shall hold the office of President for a minimum of three years and a maximum of six consecutive years
- One or more Vice Presidents may be appointed to represent significant national clubs or groups Vice-Presidents may be appointed at any General Meeting of the Club on the recommendation of the Committee, or upon receipt of a nomination in the form accepted by the Club from time to time Vice-Presidents must be Members of the

Club and shall hold office for a minimum of three years but shall be eligible for re- appointment The Vice-Presidents may attend Board meetings but shall not be entitled to vote at such meetings

#### 43 National Representative

- 43 1 A National Representative shall be appointed upon receipt by the Secretary of a form of nomination (as approved by the Club from time to time) signed by at least 51% of the Members resident in that country
- 43.2 There can only be one National Representative per country
- 43.3 The appointment by the Members resident in a country of a National Representative pursuant to article 43.1 shall immediately bring to an end any prior appointment of a National Representative of that country

#### 44 Remuneration and expenses of directors'

- 44.1 Members of the Board must not be paid any remuneration unless it is authorized by clause 3 of the Memorandum and the consent of the Club has been granted in general meeting
- Subject to any limitations or conditions imposed by the Club in general meeting, each director may be reimbursed the amount of any necessary expenses incurred 1n the exercise of his office
- The Board may, in its discretion, waive the payment of annual subscription in recognition of expenses incurred Such waivers and their recipients shall be recorded in the minutes and in the Register of Members

## 45 Notices

- A notice calling a meeting of the Board must be given to all directors but need not be in writing or given using electronic communications
- Subject to article 45 1, any notice to be given to or by any person pursuant to these Articles is to be in writing or given using electronic communications in manner permitted for the time being by these Articles or the Act
- 45 3 The Club may give any notice to a Member either
  - 45 3 1 Personally, or
  - 45 3 2 By sending it by first class post in a pre-paid envelope or by recorded delivery etc addressed to the Member at his address,
  - 45 3 3 By leaving it addressed to him at the Unit owned by him at the date of his registration as a Member,
  - 45 3 4 By giving it using electronic communication to the Member's address or otherwise in accordance with the Act

- 45.4 A Member who does not register an address with the Club or who registers only a postal address that is not within the United Kingdom is not entitled to receive any notice from the Club
- A Member present, either in person or by a proxy, at any meeting of the Club will be deemed to have received notice of the meeting and of the purposes for which it was called
- 45.6 Proof that an envelope containing a notice was properly addresses, prepaid and posted by first class post will be conclusive evidence that the notice was given
- 45.7 Proof that a notice contained in an electronic communication was sent in accordance with guidance issued by the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators will be conclusive evidence that the notice was given
- 45 8 A notice is deemed to begiven
  - 45 8 1 48 hours after the envelope containing it is posted,
  - 45 8 2 In the case of an electronic communication sent to a Member's address, 48 hours after it is sent, or

#### 46 Seal

The Club is not required to have a common seal if the Club has a common seal it must only be used by the authority of the Board or of a committee of directors authorised by the Board Every document bearing an impression of the common seal must be executed by a director and by the Secretary or by a second director

### 47 Minutes

47 1 The Board must cause minutes to be kept of all proceedings at meetings of the Club and meetings of the Board, and of all reports of committees

## 48 Assets

- Any Assets of the Club held in the name of any Member of the Club or other person shall be held in trust on behalf of the Club Any Member on ceasing to be a Member of the Club or who is required by the Committee to cease to be a Member shall be deemed irrevocably to have authorised, without payment, any person to execute the transfer of his or her share of any Assets to the Club
- 48 2 The Secretary will hold a list of any Assets belonging to the Club

#### 49 Accounts

49 1 Accounts are to be prepared in accordance with Part VII of the Act

## 50 Indemnity provision

- Subject to the following provisions of this Article, the Club is permitted to indemnify every director out of its own funds against any liability incurred by him to a person other than the Club or an associated company of the Club (as defined by the Act for these purposes) in connection with any negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust 1n relation to the Club
- 50 2 Article 50 2 does not provide an indemnity to any director against
  - 50 2 1 Any fine imposed by criminal proceedings.
  - Any sum payable to a regulatory authority by way of a penalty in respect of non-compliance with any requirement of a regulatory nature (however arising),
  - Any liability incurred in defending criminal proceedings in which he is convicted, and the conviction is final,
  - 50 2 4 Any liability incurred in defending any civil proceedings brought by the Club, or an associated company, in which a final judgment is given against him,
  - 50 2 5 Any liability incurred in connection with an application for relief in which the court refuses to grant him relief, and the refusal is final, or
  - 50 2 6 Any liability, if an indemnity against it would fall to meet the requirements for the time being of qualifying third party indemnity provision (within the meaning of the Act for these purposes)
- The reference to an application for relief is to any application for relief from liability for negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust in relation to the affairs of the Club
- A conviction, judgment or refusal of relief becomes final if the period for bringing an appeal or any further appeal has ended and any appeal bought 1s determined, abandoned or otherwise ceases to have effect
- This article is without prejudice to any other lawful indemnity to which a director may for the time being be entitled

## 51 Liability Insurance

51 1 Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Board may purchase and maintain insurance at the expense of the Club for the benefit of any Council Member, director or other officer of the Club against any liability which may attach to him in connection with any negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust by him m relation to the Club

## 52 Rules

- The Board may, subject to article 52 2, establish rules for any purposes required from time to time for the effective operation of the Club or for the furtherance of the obJects of the Club as set out m the memorandum
- If and to the extent that there is any conflict between the terms of the memorandum or these Articles and any such rules, the terms of the memorandum or these Articles will prevail